FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/8/2025 3:00 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

| No. | | | |
|-------------|-----------|--------|-----|
| Court of Ap | peals No. | 85541- | 7-] |

Case #: 1037783

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PIPE FITTERS LOCAL UNION 120 PENSION PLAN and SUZANNE FLANNERY, Individually and on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

VS.

SCOTT MCFARLANE, ROSS TENNENBAUM, MARCELA MARTIN, RAJEEV SINGH, BRUCE CRAWFORD, MARION FOOTE, EDWARD GILHULY, WILLIAM INGRAM, TAMI RELLER, BRIAN SHARPLES, SRINIVAS TALLAPRAGADA, and KATHY ZWICKERT,

Defendants-Petitioners.

DEFENDANTS-PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Avalara, Inc. is a Washington corporation that sells automated tax compliance software. CP 798 ¶ 1. At all relevant times until October 19, 2022, when Avalara was acquired in the transaction challenged in this litigation (the "Merger"), Avalara's board of directors (the "Board") comprised eleven individuals: Scott McFarlane, Marcela Martin, Rajeev Singh, Bruce Crawford, Marion Foote, Edward Gilhuly, William Ingram, Tami Reller, Brian Sharples, Srinivas Tallapragada, and Kathy Zwickert. CP 805 ¶ 31. McFarlane co-founded Avalara; he was and remains Avalara's Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. CP 803 ¶ 17. Ross Tennenbaum was Avalara's Chief Financial Officer during the relevant time period. CP 804 ¶ 18. The Board and Tennenbaum are the Defendants in the Superior Court and the Petitioners herein.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Defendants seek review of the published opinion of Division One of the Court of Appeals in *Pipe Fitters Local Union*

120 Pension Plan v. McFarlane, No. 85541-7-I, 2024 WL 5038857 (Wash. Ct. App.), dated December 9, 2024. A copy of that decision is contained in Appendix A hereto.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Washington's legislature created a specific statutory regime for shareholders who do not accept the price offered in a corporate merger or acquisition: they can seek a judicial appraisal of the fair value of their stock. This regime strikes a balance between a shareholder's right to challenge the fairness of a merger price and a corporation's—and the legislature's interest in avoiding inefficient and burdensome class action merger litigation. Plaintiffs here seek to upset this balance by charting a course that contravenes the legislature's intent, this Court's decision in Sound Infiniti, Inc. v. Snyder, 169 Wn.2d 199 (2010), the Court of Appeals' decisions in two other recent cases, and the law of numerous other states that have adopted the same model appraisal statute.

The Court of Appeals' analysis of whether claims challenging the fairness of a merger price may proceed outside of an appraisal proceeding warrants review in two independent respects:

First, the Court of Appeals misread Sound Infiniti in concluding that a shareholder seeking monetary damages in a merger challenge can sidestep Washington's appraisal regime and instead seek relief via a shareholder class action. Review of this issue is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Second, the Court of Appeals failed to address the heightened pleading standard under Sound Infiniti requiring a shareholder pursuing a non-appraisal claim to make some showing of fraud based on actual facts. Review of this issue is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Real-world implications outside of this case also warrant review of these issues. Plaintiffs' lawyers are now filing class action attacks in connection with almost every significant Washington corporate merger. And, in the last few months, several Washington corporations have announced they will be taken private via corporate merger. For example, Smartsheet recently announced it was being acquired in a deal valued at \$8.4 billion, and Nordstrom, Inc. announced it was being taken private in a transaction valued at \$6.25 billion. Defendants respectfully submit that review of the foregoing issues is also appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) as the scope and proper application of Washington's appraisal statute are significant matters of public policy for shareholders and corporate planners alike.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In early 2022, various parties expressed interest in potentially acquiring Avalara. CP 811 ¶ 46. Despite having confidence in the Company's standalone plan, *id.* ¶ 45, the Board engaged non-party Goldman Sachs as a financial advisor to evaluate alternatives and advise on a potential sale process, CP 451-52; CP 811 ¶ 45; CP 812 ¶ 48; CP 812 ¶ 49.

Avalara's Board met on April 26-27, 2022, during which Goldman Sachs presented its analysis of "the historical financial performance of Avalara, current market conditions, [and] the expectations of public equity analysts of Avalara's future performance." CP 452; CP 812 ¶ 48. Management also provided the Company's Q1 2022 financial results and an updated long-term forecast, including various challenges in achieving that forecast. CP 452; CP 810 ¶ 44. After considering Goldman Sachs' financial analysis and management's financial results and forecasts, the Board "authorized management to run a sale process" for Avalara. CP 813 ¶ 53.

On June 23, 2022, Vista Equity Partners ("Vista") submitted an indication of interest to acquire Avalara within a price range of \$97 to \$101 per share. CP 824 ¶ 88. That same day, another potential bidder, Thoma Bravo, submitted its own indication of interest to acquire Avalara within a price range of \$90 to \$95 per share. *Id*.

On July 7, 2022, media outlets reported that Avalara was for sale. *Id.* The following day, Avalara's stock price rose on this speculation and closed at \$85.63, a 16% increase from the previous day's close of \$73.54. *Id.*

On July 10, Avalara shared with Thoma Bravo and Vista its Q2 2022 results, which were "below management's expectations for revenue." *Id.* After reviewing the Q2 2022 results, Thoma Bravo communicated that it was no longer interested in a transaction, leaving Vista as the only remaining potential suitor. CP 457; CP 825 ¶ 92.

On August 4, Vista submitted another indication of interest to acquire Avalara at \$92.25 per share. CP 461. After the Board countered at \$95.75 per share, *id.*, Vista made a best-and-final offer of \$93.50 per share, CP 461-62; CP 827 ¶ 96, which represented a 27% premium to Avalara's unaffected stock price prior to the July 7 leak, CP 438.

The Board accepted Vista's best-and-final offer, and the Merger was announced on August 8, 2022. CP 801 ¶ 10. On

September 12, 2022, the Company filed its Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (the "Proxy"), CP 802 ¶ 11, which disclosed, among other things, an extensive description of the sale process, the reasons the Board approved the Merger, Goldman Sachs' financial analyses, and a description of the potential interests of Avalara's directors and officers in the Merger, CP 450-79, 482-84.

Before Avalara shareholders voted on the Merger, Plaintiffs served demands for books and records under RCW 24.06.160. Avalara produced documents to Plaintiffs, including minutes of Board meetings during which the Board evaluated the sale process and presentations by management and Goldman Sachs. Plaintiffs did not attempt to enjoin the vote or the closing of the Merger.

On October 14, 2022, 83% of Avalara shareholders voted in favor of the Merger. The Merger closed on October 19, 2022. CP 688; CP 802 ¶ 12; CP 798 ¶ 2.

On January 24, 2023, Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit as a putative class action seeking monetary relief based on claims that Defendants breached their fiduciary duties in connection with the Merger. Defendants' motion to dismiss the Complaint, CP 4-33, was denied by the Superior Court by order without an opinion, CP 1087-88. Defendants thereafter obtained permission to seek discretionary review of the Superior Court's order.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Superior Court's decision, holding that dissenting shareholders "may challenge the corporate actions outside the statutory appraisal process based on a showing that the action was fraudulent with respect to the shareholder or the corporation." App'x A at 17. In reaching that conclusion, the panel disregarded a critical aspect of this Court's *Sound Infiniti* decision, which explained that "actions for damages can be brought only within the framework of the exclusive appraisal proceeding." 169 Wn.2d at 210-11. The Court of Appeals brushed this language aside as supposed "dicta." App'x A at 15-16. The Court of Appeals also declined

to consider whether the Superior Court properly applied the other critical aspect of *Sound Infiniti*—that the plaintiff make "some showing" based on "actual facts" that the challenged merger was fraudulent with respect to the corporation or its shareholders. *Sound Infiniti*, 169 Wn.2d at 210-11. The Court of Appeals determined to publish the decision on its own accord without request of the parties.

V. ARGUMENT

Under Washington law, any shareholder who dissents from a merger is entitled to receive the amount the company estimates to be the fair value of the dissenter's shares. RCW 23B.13.250(1). The company's payment must be accompanied by financial statements and an explanation of how the company estimated fair value. RCW 23B.13.250(2). With the benefit of this information, a dissenter can accept or reject the company's offer. RCW 23B.13.280. If the parties are unable to reach a resolution, the company may commence appraisal litigation. RCW 23B.13.300. In that proceeding, the dissenter

can advance any theory that reasonably could have affected the fair value of the dissenter's shares—including any alleged breaches of fiduciary duty. *Sound Infiniti*, 169 Wn.2d at 211 (holding that a plaintiff "can bring his charge of a violation of fiduciary duty within the appraisal proceeding").

As this Court recognized in *Sound Infiniti*, Washington's appraisal framework does not apply in the limited circumstance where a shareholder both (i) asserts a claim for equitable relief (as opposed to money damages) and (ii) makes "some showing" based on "actual facts" that the challenged merger was fraudulent with respect to the corporation or its shareholders. *Sound Infiniti*, 169 Wn.2d at 210-11. The courts below, however, failed to apply either of these two elements. Review of both failures is thus appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

First, the Court of Appeals erroneously held that a plaintiff seeking solely money damages can circumvent Washington's appraisal regime. That conclusion is contrary to the legal standard set forth in *Sound Infiniti*. It is also inconsistent with

two recent decisions from the Court of Appeals interpreting the equitable relief requirement in *Sound Infiniti*. *See Allentoff v*. *Red Lion Hotels Corp.*, No. 83576-9-I, 2023 WL 21338, at *6 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 3, 2023) (unpublished), and *Brewster 9, LP v. Trout-Blue Chelan-Magi, LLC*, No. 39507-3-III, 2024 WL 3824545, at *6 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 15, 2024) (unpublished). And it also conflicts with cases from numerous other states that have adopted the same model appraisal statute on which the Washington regime relies. The Court of Appeals' outlier decision warrants review by this Court.

Second, the Court of Appeals chose not to review whether the Superior Court correctly applied the other core element necessary to allow Plaintiffs to end run the appraisal regime. In denying Defendants' motion to dismiss, the Superior Court applied Washington's liberal CR 12(b)(6) pleading standard instead of the heightened pleading standard recognized in Sound Infiniti, which requires a plaintiff to make "some showing" of fraud based on "actual facts." 169 Wn.2d at 209. Under the

CR 12(b)(6) standard, the Superior Court assumed, based on Plaintiffs' cherry-picked and conclusory allegations, that the Merger was somehow fraudulent, while disregarding documents incorporated by reference into the Complaint that foreclose Plaintiffs' theories. The Court of Appeals' failure to correct this error by the Superior Court provides a separate basis for this Court's review.

A. The Court of Appeals Erred in Determining That Claims for Money Damages Alone May Avoid the Exclusive Statutory Appraisal Process.

The Court of Appeals held that "with a showing of fraudulent conduct, individual claims for damages can proceed outside the statutory appraisal process." App'x A at 16. To reach that result, the court disregarded this Court's articulation of the law in *Sound Infiniti* that "claims for damages and equitable relief" must be examined "separately," as "New York jurisprudence, which [Washington's] legislative history tells us is particularly persuasive, makes a distinction between actions for damages and actions for equitable relief" and "ensures that

actions for damages can be brought only within the framework of the exclusive appraisal proceeding." 169 Wn.2d at 210. The Court of Appeals characterized these statements as "dicta," reasoning that *Sound Infiniti* concerned only "the definition of the fraudulent conduct necessary for the statutory exemption to the appraisal process." App'x A at 16 n.9. The Court of Appeal's determination contradicts the plain text of *Sound Infiniti* and is thus appropriate for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In *Sound Infiniti*, this Court announced the equitable relief requirement but did not dismiss non-appraisal claims on those grounds because the shareholder had sought a temporary restraining order to enjoin the transaction in the first instance.

169 Wn.2d at 204. When the transaction ultimately closed due to the plaintiff's failure to demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits, the defendants moved for summary judgment because appraisal became the shareholder's exclusive remedy for challenging the fairness of the price. *Id. Sound Infiniti* squarely instructs that such cases seeking money damages for breaches of

fiduciary duty are appropriately litigated "within the appraisal proceeding, as the discharge of the majority's fiduciary duty could conceivably affect the value of his shares." 169 Wn.2d at 210; accord id. at 212 ("Pisheyar's claims for damages resulting from a breach of fiduciary duty can be litigated only within the appraisal proceeding."). Contrary to the Court of Appeals' interpretation, this Court's focus on the fraud requirement—rather than the equitable relief requirement, which was met—in Sound Infiniti does not transform the Court's clear statement of Washington law on the equitable relief requirement into dicta.

The Court of Appeals' error in this case is further magnified by two other recent, unpublished decisions from Division One and Division Three. In *Allentoff v. Red Lion Hotels Corp.*, Division One held that the shareholders' claims "fail[ed] because they only sought damages." 2023 WL 21338, at *6. In *Brewster 9*, the shareholder alleged it had received "insufficient consideration," and Division Three explained that an appraisal "offers the exact relief [the shareholder] seeks." 2024 WL

3824545, at *6. Here, the Court of Appeals did not address either case, let alone attempt to reconcile them with its erroneous interpretation of *Sound Infiniti*.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is also contradicted by what the Court of Appeals itself earlier held when it decided Sound Infiniti. See Sound Infiniti, Inc. v. Snyder, 145 Wn. App. 333, 347 (2008) (reasoning that "a separate action is allowed only if a remedy other than damages is warranted"). In that decision, the Court of Appeals surveyed the law of numerous other states that had adopted the same model appraisal statute as Washington, which confines suits for money damages See Bingham Consol. Co. v. to appraisal proceedings. Groesbeck, 105 P.3d 365, 374 (Utah Ct. App. 2004) ("[T]he court may consider evidence of breach of fiduciary duty in an appraisal to assess the credibility of the majority shareholder's proposed valuation."); HMO-W Inc. v. SSM Health Care Sys., 611 N.W.2d 250, 259 (Wis. 2000) ("When assertions of misconduct such as unfair dealing are intertwined with the value

of shares subject to appraisal, a shareholder may make these assertions within the context of an appraisal action."); Steinberg v. Amplica, Inc., 729 P.2d 683, 690 (Cal. 1986) ("nothing in the appraisal statutes to prevent vindication of a shareholder's claim of misconduct in an appraisal proceeding"); Fleming v. Int'l Pizza Supply Corp., 676 N.E.2d 1051, 1057 (Ind. 1997) ("legislature did not foreclose the ability of dissenting shareholders to litigate their breach of fiduciary duty or fraud claims within the appraisal proceeding"); see also Szaloczi v. John R. Behrmann Revocable Trust, 90 P.3d 835, 837 (Colo. 2004); Strasenburgh v. Straubmuller, 683 A.2d 818, 828 (N.J. 1996) (holding that "allowing a cause of action in addition to the appraisal proceeding would be duplicative"); Grace Bros. v. Farley Indus., Inc., 450 S.E.2d 814, 817 (Ga. 1994) (dismissing fiduciary duty claim brought outside of appraisal because "the essence of plaintiffs' claim is they would have been paid more money per share if defendants had not breached their fiduciary duty").

Based on this analysis of analogous state statutes, the Court of Appeals held that "[a] similar scope of proceeding applies in Washington appraisal actions. . . . [T]he court overseeing an appraisal action . . . may account for all prior reductions in the value of those shares caused by actual breaches of fiduciary duty, including the extraction of unreasonable salaries, misuse of corporate funds, or other self-dealing." Sound Infiniti, 145 Wn. App. at 349. The Court of Appeals held that "[t]his being the case, both the plain text and the legislative history of RCW 23B.13.020 make clear that the legislature intended appraisal to be the exclusive remedy for shareholders who dissent from fundamental corporate changes." Id. As that holding recognizes, the decision below in this case is not only inconsistent with binding Washington precedent, but also relevant precedent from other states that have adopted the same model statute.

At no time did the Washington legislature express its intent to create a unique appraisal statute for Washington that

departed from the consistent approach deployed by myriad other states. Nor would that have been logical: If a shareholder believes there is something fraudulent about a transaction, the shareholder is incentivized to identify the alleged fraud and seek to enjoin the transaction before the proverbial eggs are scrambled. That was precisely the path taken by the plaintiff in *Sound Infiniti*. If a shareholder's only gripe relates to the transaction price, the Washington legislature adopted an efficient scheme directing such claims to an appraisal proceeding—avoiding the inefficiencies and burdens imposed by large-scale post-closing class actions.

In sum, the Court of Appeals' holding that a shareholder may pursue non-appraisal claims without seeking equitable relief is in direct conflict with *Sound Infiniti*, myriad other authorities, and sound public policy. Accordingly, Defendants respectfully request that this Court accept review of this issue under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Court of Appeals Erred by Deferring to the Superior Court's Application of the Incorrect Pleading Standard.

In denying Defendants' motion to dismiss, the Superior Court applied Washington's liberal CR 12(b)(6) pleading standard. CP 974. The Superior Court explained that a motion to dismiss should be granted only if the plaintiff "cannot allege any facts, even hypothetical facts, that would support their claim." Id.; see also Kinney v. Cook, 159 Wn.2d 837, 842 (2007). This was error. Even under CR 12(b)(6), Sound Infiniti requires a plaintiff to make "some showing" of fraud based on "actual facts." Sound Infiniti, 169 Wn.2d at 209. The Court of Appeals elected not to review this issue. App'x A at 2 n.1. The application of the incorrect pleading standard that conflicts with the plain language of Sound Infiniti is appropriate grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

In *Sound Infiniti*, this Court made clear that a shareholder seeking to bring a non-appraisal claim must make "some showing that the corporate action itself... is fraudulent with

wn.2d at 209. This Court further held that this "showing" must be based on "actual facts"—not "hypothetical" facts. *Sound Infiniti*, 169 Wn.2d at 209. The dissent in *Sound Infiniti* observed this heightened pleading standard "erects an unwarranted barrier to otherwise legitimate suits" and that "[c]laims lacking merit may be dismissed pursuant to various rules of civil procedure, such as CR 12(b)(6) or CR 56(c)." *Sound Infiniti*, 169 Wn.2d at 216. In short, the dissent recognized that the majority had elevated Washington's typical CR 12(b)(6) pleading standard.

The Superior Court did not apply the necessary heightened pleading standard in this case, and the Court of Appeals did not correct that error. Instead, both courts assumed—based on Plaintiffs' cherry-picked and conclusory allegations—the Merger was somehow fraudulent. The Court of Appeals went even further by entirely disregarding documents that the Superior Court held were incorporated by reference into the Complaint. CP 1094 ("The documents submitted by Defendants were

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