FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/7/2025 11:20 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1037783 Court of Appeals No. 85541-7-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PIPE FITTERS LOCAL UNION 120 PENSION PLAN and SUZANNE FLANNERY, Individually and on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

VS.

SCOTT MCFARLANE, ROSS TENNENBAUM, MARCELA MARTIN, RAJEEV SINGH, BRUCE CRAWFORD, MARION FOOTE, EDWARD GILHULY, WILLIAM INGRAM, TAMI RELLER, BRIAN SHARPLES, SRINIVAS TALLAPRAGADA, and KATHY ZWICKERT,

Defendants-Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the clear and straightforward statutory language in RCW 23B.13.020(2), and this Court's holdings in <u>Sound Infiniti</u>, when affirming the Superior Court's denial of Defendants' CR 12(b)(6) motion. Defendants cannot satisfy the RAP 13.4(b) review criteria. First, Defendants point to no decision from this Court (or any other court) with which Division One's decision conflicts. To the contrary, Division One found that it was Defendants' strained position that conflicts with the plain language of RCW 23B.13.020(2). Second, Defendants' second issue is based on an inaccurate premise. Both the Superior Court and the Court of Appeals in fact applied CR 12(b)(6) to Defendants' CR 12(b)(6) motion. And the Trial Court already considered the "actual facts" when ruling that the Complaint made a showing of fraud. Third, Defendants come nowhere close to raising a substantial issue of public interest warranting this Court's review. No further review is required here.

- A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Any Decision of the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals
 - 1. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with the Statute or <u>Sound</u> <u>Infiniti</u>

The plain statutory language at issue squarely undermines Defendants' petition for review. Washington's appraisal statute, RCW 23B.13.020, states in relevant part: (1) A shareholder is entitled to dissent from, and obtain payment of the fair value of the shareholder's shares in the event of, any of the following corporate actions:

(a) Consummation of a merger

* *

(2) A shareholder entitled to dissent and obtain payment for the shareholder's shares under this chapter may not challenge the corporate action creating the shareholder's entitlement *unless the action* ... *is fraudulent with respect to the shareholder or the corporation*.

RCW 23B.13.020.

The Superior Court confirmed that "fraud was properly plead" in the Complaint. CP 1094. That is because "Plaintiffs' Complaint provides detailed facts supporting their allegations of multiple acts of self-dealing, deception, and breach of fiduciary duty." <u>Id</u>. Under the plain statutory language, therefore, the "corporate action," <u>i.e.</u>, the Buyout, was "fraudulent with respect to the shareholder or the corporation" and the case may proceed outside of appraisal. RCW 23B.13.020(2).

Defendants' attempt to invent new statutory language, which they call an "equitable relief requirement,"

Pet. at 14, fails. That language appears nowhere in RCW 23B.13.020. No such statutory language exists. Division One thus correctly found that, "from the plain language of RCW 23B.13.020(2), the statutory appraisal process is *not* the exclusive remedy for a shareholder to dissent and obtain payment where there is 'fraudulent [conduct] with respect to the shareholder or corporation." Def. App'x A at 12 (bracketed language in original).

Division One's ruling also correctly applied <u>Sound</u> <u>Infiniti</u>. In <u>Sound Infiniti</u>, following a corporate transaction, a minority shareholder filed a bare-bones derivative complaint for breach of fiduciary duty. 169 Wash. 2d at 203-06. At a preliminary injunction hearing, the court ruled that the shareholder "could not demonstrate a likelihood of success on the merits for any of the claims." <u>Id</u>. at 205. After the transaction closed, the trial court granted the defendants' motion to dismiss, which the <u>Sound</u> <u>Infiniti</u> Court of Appeals affirmed, finding, <u>inter alia</u>, that appraisal was the exclusive forum because the shareholder did not plead common law fraud. Id. at 205-06.

This Court, however, disagreed and held that "[t]he Court of Appeals erred by defining 'fraudulent' so narrowly as to encompass only common law actual fraud." Id. at 208. The Sound Infiniti Court continued: "An examination of the legislative history of RCW 23B.13.020 shows that the statute aims to make the appraisal process the usual and common means by which a dissenter can gain compensation, but does not limit the fraudulent exception only to cases of common law actual fraud." Id. The Court ultimately held: "We hold that absent a showing of fraudulent conduct, the appraisal mechanism is the exclusive remedy Pisheyar has for his individual claims for damages." Id. at 211.

The Court applied principles from both New York and Delaware. It noted the general rule from New York that appraisal is the "usual and common means by which a dissenter can gain compensation," but then specifically looked to Delaware law when shaping the exception to that general rule. <u>Id.</u> at 208-09. Citing the "influential jurisprudence" of Delaware law, the Sound Infiniti Court

confirmed the scope of the fraud exception:

Delaware's Weinberger case cited in the [Washington legislative] commentary states that "the appraisal remedy may not be adequate in certain cases, particularly where misrepresentation, self-dealing, fraud. deliberate waste of corporate assets, or gross and palpable overreaching are involved." 457 A.2d at 714. Our own legislative history and Delaware's influential jurisprudence both contemplate a definition of "fraudulent" broader than common law actual fraud. We therefore hold that the Court of Appeals erred by defining the "fraudulent" exception so narrowly.

Id. (cleaned up).

Unable to find any support in the statutory language, Defendants pivot to claiming that this Court in Sound imported additional "equitable relief Infiniti an requirement" into the rule, which purportedly dictates that claims for money damages cannot exist outside of appraisal. Not so. Defendants cite dicta from Sound Infiniti about "equitable relief" under New York law, but ignore that in the very next paragraph, the Sound Infiniti Court summarized its *actual holding* as follows: "We hold that absent a showing of fraudulent conduct, the appraisal - 20 -

mechanism is the exclusive remedy Pisheyar has for his

individual claims for damages." Id. at 211. The Sound

Infiniti Court repeated the same holding in its conclusion:

In sum, while we find that "fraudulent" does encompass actions beyond common law actual fraud, there must still be some showing of a fraudulent corporate action. <u>Since there</u> <u>is no showing that the transaction was</u> <u>fraudulent</u>, Pisheyar's claims <u>for damages</u> resulting from a breach of fiduciary duty can be litigated only within the appraisal proceeding.

<u>Id</u>. at 212. This Court's actual holdings confirm that, in Washington, the "fraudulent conduct" exception continues to apply to actions seeking damages. <u>Id</u>.

In sum, under the plain terms of the statute and <u>Sound Infiniti</u>, Division One correctly ruled that the statutory "fraud" exception permits damages claims, and does not contain any additional requirement narrowing the form of relief permitted outside of appraisal.

2. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Any Other Rulings in Washington – Published or Unpublished

Defendants do not, and cannot, seek review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). That is because Division One's ruling is not in conflict with any "published decision of the Court of Appeals." RAP 13.4(b)(2). Defendants concede this point. Instead, Defendants trot out two *unpublished* decisions and one *reversed* decision they claim are in conflict. Even if unpublished and reversed decisions were proper bases for review under RAP 13.4(b) – and they are not – Defendants are wrong about those cases as well.

First, in the unpublished opinion <u>Allentoff v. Red</u> <u>Lion Hotels Corporation</u>, Division One correctly dismissed a bare-bones complaint that "contradicted [its own] allegations," holding: "*Because the shareholders did not sufficiently plead facts supporting a basis for fraud*, we affirm the trial court." 2023 WL 21338, at *1, *5-*6 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 3, 2023) (unpublished). This holding is consistent with Division One's ruling in this case given that here, unlike in <u>Allentoff</u>, the Complaint did in fact "sufficiently plead facts supporting a basis for fraud." <u>Id.</u>

Second, Defendants claim, without explanation, that Division One's ruling here is inconsistent with another unpublished case, Brewster 9, LP v. Trout-Blue Chelan-Magi, LLC, 2024 WL 3824545, at *6 (Wash. Ct. App. Aug. 15, 2024) (unpublished). In that case, a "grower-member" of a fruit cooperative, Chelan Fruit LLC, brought eight causes of action under a hodgepodge of statutes. Id. Two of the claims alleged breaches of fiduciary duty. Id. By the time the court considered the appraisal "fraud exception," it had already dismissed the fiduciary duty claims twice over, first because no fiduciary duties were owed, and again because the claims were derivative, not direct. Id. at *5-*6. Brewster 9 is not materially related to the rulings in this case.

Third, Defendants claim that Division One's ruling is "contradicted" by the *reversed* appellate court ruling in <u>Sound Infiniti</u>. Here, however, Division One correctly followed the Court's ruling in <u>Sound Infiniti</u>, not an appellate court ruling that this Court reversed for defining the "fraud" exception too "narrowly." <u>See Sound Infiniti</u>, 169 Wash. 2d at 203-06.

3. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Any Rulings from Other Jurisdictions

Unable to identify any published Washington case in conflict, Defendants next claim that Division One's ruling is inconsistent with a purported "survey" of other jurisdictions that Defendants unearthed from the old, reversed appellate court ruling in <u>Sound Infiniti</u>. Pet. at 15-16. But a purportedly inconsistent survey of *other* jurisdictions in a reversed appellate decision is not a proper basis for review. <u>See RAP 13.4(b)</u>. And Defendants are wrong about this "survey" in any event.

First, Defendants' "survey" of other states contains a glaring omission: Delaware. This Court, in <u>Sound Infiniti</u>, looked to *Delaware law* when confirming the scope of the fraud exception: "Our own legislative history and Delaware's influential jurisprudence both contemplate a definition of 'fraudulent' broader than common law actual fraud." <u>Sound Infiniti</u>, 169 Wash. 2d at 209. In the Superior Court, Defendants agreed and wrote that "*Washington courts rely on 'Delaware's influential jurisprudence' in these types of corporate disputes*" CP 19.

The law in Delaware is clear. "[W]henever a board has engaged in fiduciarily unfair conduct, the stockholders should not be relegated to an appraisal proceeding." <u>Turner</u> <u>v. Bernstein</u>, 776 A.2d 530, 547 (Del. Ch. 2000) (collecting cases). "[C]laims for unfair dealing cannot be litigated in the context of a statutory appraisal." <u>Alabama By-Products</u> <u>Corp. v. Neal</u>, 588 A.2d 255, 257 (Del. 1991); <u>see also</u> <u>Nagy v. Bistricer</u>, 770 A.2d 43, 49-51, 65 (Del. Ch. 2000) (describing appraisal exclusivity as "*an argument that this court has rejected three times in the course of the last two years*").

Second, while studiously ignoring "influential" Delaware law, Defendants' citations to other jurisdictions do not withstand scrutiny. Pet. at 15-16. First, Defendants'

2004 Utah cite is outdated and misleading. The Utah Supreme Court more recently held "that the dissenters' rights statute does not preempt direct actions rooted in breach of fiduciary duty" Torian v. Craig, 289 P.3d 479, 481 (Utah 2012) (applying identical statutory language as Washington). Second, Defendants' citation to California case law is utterly irrelevant because the California statute contains no fraud exception. See Cal. Corp. Code §1312. Third, a more comprehensive survey from the Delaware Court of Chancery reveals that "other jurisdictions which have enacted provisions similar to [the RMBCA]" – and by extension similar to the Washington statute – "rely upon the fair price/fair procedure distinction in Weinberger." See Berger v. Intelident Sols., Inc., 911 A.2d 1164, 1171 (Del. Ch. 2006) (citing cases from RMBCA jurisdictions including New Mexico, Utah, and Iowa). That is consistent with this Court's adoption of the Delaware Supreme Court's decision in Weinberger in Sound Infiniti. 169 Wash. 2d at 208-09. In adopting Weinberger, the Sound Infiniti Court looked to "[o]ur own legislative history and

Delaware's influential jurisprudence." <u>Id</u>. This Court observed that the Washington State Legislature expressly cited <u>Weinberger</u> in its commentary to RCW 23B.13.020. <u>Id</u>. (quoting 2 Senate Journal, 51st Leg., 2d Spec. Sess., at 3088 (Wash. 1989). In sum, Defendants fail to identify valid authority in conflict with Division One's ruling in this case, let alone any published Washington decision.

B. The Court of Appeals and Superior Court Applied the Correct Pleading Standard

Defendants claim that the Superior Court and Court of Appeals incorrectly "applied Washington's liberal 12(b)(6) pleading standard." Pet. at 19. This second request for review fails at its premise. Defendants chose to file a CR 12(b)(6) motion. Defendants concede that the Superior Court and Court of Appeals indeed applied CR 12(b)(6) in reviewing that motion. Pet. at 19. That should be the end of the matter.

This Court in <u>Sound Infiniti</u> confirmed that it was applying the CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss standard when it noted that "*there is no allegation* here that the majority

shareholders deceived Pisheyar about the reverse split." 169 Wash. 2d at 210. To the extent that Defendants claim that a different, heightened CR 12(b)(6) standard is somehow mandated because this Court, in Sound Infiniti, used the words "some showing" and "actual facts," Pet. at 11, 20, the Superior Court and Court of Appeals *already* applied that same language. The Superior Court looked to the "actual facts," explicitly finding "Plaintiffs' Complaint provides detailed facts supporting their allegations of multiple acts of self-dealing, deception, and breach of fiduciary duty." CP 1094. The Superior Court also confirmed that it considered Defendants' submission of exhibits when ruling on their CR 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss - which Defendants falsely claim the Superior Court failed to do. CP 1087.

Moreover, Division One repeatedly cited to, adopted, and applied the same ruling from <u>Sound Infiniti</u> that Defendants inaccurately claim Division One ignored. The following quotes are from Division One's ruling on this issue:

- "While our Supreme Court held that this court's definition was too narrow, it still required that "there must still be <u>some</u> showing that the corporate action itself ... is 'fraudulent with respect to the shareholder or the corporation." Def. App'x A at 14 (emphasis in original, citing <u>Sound Infiniti</u>, 169 Wash. 2d at 209).
- "Thus, because Pisheyar *failed to show fraudulent conduct*, the exception to the statutory appraisal process for fraudulent conduct was simply not applicable." <u>Id.</u> at 15-16.
- "[T]he court's holding is consistent with the plain language of RCW 23B.13.020(2): that *with a showing of fraudulent conduct*, individual claims for damages can proceed outside the statutory appraisal process." <u>Id.</u> at 16.

Division One even included the very language Defendants claim it "failed to address," Pet. at 3, while answering the certified question: "Consequently, we answer the certified question as follows: consistent with the plain language of RCW 23B.13.020(2), and Sound Infiniti, a shareholder entitled to dissent and obtain payment for shares under the WBCA may challenge the corporate actions outside the statutory appraisal process based on a showing that the action was fraudulent with respect to the shareholder or the corporation." Def. App'x A at 17. On a CR 12(b)(6) motion, that "showing" is obviously made through the Complaint. There is simply no conflict between Sound Infiniti and Division One's ruling. Defendants' second issue does not support review.

C. There Is No "Substantial Public Interest" at Issue in This Case

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), Defendants cannot identify any "issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." This Court already considered and resolved these issues in <u>Sound Infiniti</u>. A

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